# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2008-CA-00203

### **DANIEL WEBSTER**

## PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

#### VERSUS

#### **DEFENDANT-APPELLEE**

CITY OF D 'IBERVILLE, CITY OF D 'IBERVILLE CITY COUNCIL, MAYOR OF D 'IBERVILLE AND CITY COUNCIL PRESIDENT RUSTY QUAVE, D 'IBERVILLE PLANNING COMMISSION, AND CITY MANAGER OF D 'IBERVILLE, ALAN SANTA CRUZ

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

### **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

LA QUETTA M. GOLDEN Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant 12311 Ashley Drive., Suite D Gulfport, MS 39503 228. 832.9111 228.832.9008 (facsimile)

# **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

# **ISSUE ONE**

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT STATING THAT PLAINTIFF'S NOTICE OF CLAIM DOES NOT COMPLY WITH MISS. CODE ANN. SEC. 11-46-11(2)?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

# I. Course of proceedings and disposition in court below:

On or about August 29, 2002, Daniel Webster filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Second Judicial District. (See Record Vol.1, pg. 12) On October 16, 2002, Daniel Webster filed an Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Second Judicial District. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 37)

On December 4, 2002, Defendants/Appellees filed a Motion to Dismiss. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 40) On January 3, 2003, Daniel Webster filed an Answer to Motion to Dismiss. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 49) On August 23, 2003, the Circuit Court of Harrison County entered an Order dismissing the Amended Complaint. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 53) On September 8, 2003, Daniel Webster filed a Motion to Reconsider. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 54) On June 21, 2004, the Circuit Court of Harrison County entered an Order stating that the Court erred in ordering the case dismissed and ordered the dismissal vacated and held for naught.(See Record Vol. 1, pg. 56)

On July 19, 2004, the Defendants/Appellees filed an Answer to Complaint and Amended Complaint. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 58) On October 19, 2006, an Entry of Appearance was filed on behalf of Daniel Webster. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 77) On February 1, 2007, Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment was filed. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 78) On March 23, 2007, Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Plaintiff's Memorandum in Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was filed. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 165) On March 7, 2007, Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment was filed. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 165) On December 17, 2007, the Circuit Court in Harrison County entered a Final Judgment granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 205)

On January 14, 2008, Plaintiff-Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 209) On January 25, 2008, Plaintiff-Appellant filed his Amended Notice of Appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 211)

### **II. Statement of facts:**

Your Plaintiff asserts that he is the owner of certain property located at 10162 Seymour Avenue, D 'Iberville, Second Judicial District, Harrison County, Mississippi. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 17) That on February 6, 2001, the City of D 'Iberville conducted a public hearing regarding the above property. (See Record Vol. 2, pg.149) That Plaintiff was present at that hearing. That on February 6, 2001, the City of D 'Iberville through it's city council and its mayor, set out its findings at the public hearing in the form of Resolution No. 965. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 180)

The City of D 'Iberville resolved to have Plaintiff do the following:

- A. Vacate and board up the building. Plaintiff complied with this provision.
- B. Remove all hazardous materials from the building. Plaintiff complied with this provision.
- C. By February 27, 2001, Plaintiff was to submit architectural and engineering plans for the City of D 'Iberville indicating how he would repair or remove the structure. However, on February 26, 2001, Plaintiff entered into a contract to sell the property to a Danny E. McDaniel with KDM Development Inc. and Plaintiff had hired an engineer Louis Rash in preparation to submit the required architectural or engineering plan to the City of D 'Iberville.
- D. By April 6, 2001, Plaintiff was to have submitted a "proven plan" to repair or remove the building or, alternatively, commence the said process. By that date, Plaintiff had sold the property to Danny E. McDaniel with KDM Development, Inc. on March 16, 2001. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 180)

3.

That on March 21, 2001, Danny McDaniel with KDM Development, Inc. recorded the aforementioned quitclaim deed executed by Plaintiff. That on March 22, 2001, the bank which held the funds from the real estate transaction between Plaintiff and the new owner Danny McDaniel, informed the Plaintiff's then attorney, David Daniels, Esq., that the instrument deposited on or about March 8, 2001 by Danny McDaniel was fraudulent and would not be honored.

That on April 30, 2001, via letter certified mail, Danny McDaniel was notified that the City of D 'Iberville "will take action to have building 'removed by demolition' ". (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 35) The letter states that on February 23, 2001 at 4:00p.m. the City of D 'Iberville building inspector, the City Attorney, met with Danny McDaniel at the Office of Attorney David Daniels. The letter also states that Danny McDaniel informed the city building inspector and city attorney that McDaniel was purchasing the property, intended to repair it , provided a copy of the Contract to Purchase Real Property. Danny McDaniel later hired an engineer who informed the City of D 'Iberville he had prepared costs estimates as to repair versus demolition and rebuilding, but lost contact with McDaniel. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 35)

That your Plaintiff, being out of state at the time, was not sent this letter, but learned of the City of D 'Iberville's plan through his attorney. On May 9, 2001, Plaintiff's attorney filed for Emergency Injunctive Relief, Ex Parte in the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Second Judicial District, Cause No. C2402-01-00274. On May 11, 2001, the City filed an Answer having been notified of title dispute and Plaintiff's desire to save the building. On May 11, 2001, a hearing was held by telephone conference according to a letter dated May 23, 2001 by the D 'Iberville City attorney. The letter states the court ordered Plaintiff post \$5,000.00 cash or corporate security bond within seven (7) days or by Friday May 18, 2001 or the Court would not issue a restraining order and

the City could proceed with demolition. (See Vol. 2, pg. 159) Note there is no actual court order to this effect.\*\*\*\*\* That on May 31, 2001, Defendants demolished the building on the aforementioned property. At the time the building was demolished it had been determined by Plaintiff's hired engineer to be structurally sound and capable of rehabilitation.

That Danny McDaniel has been federally prosecuted, plead guilty, sentenced and had agreed to deed the aforementioned property back to Plaintiff, but has since refused to sign the deed. That Plaintiff filed an action in the Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi in which the Court entered an Order and Judgment Finding Conveyance Void Ab Initio and Ordering Quit Claim Deed Signed by Defendant McDaniel or the Clerk of the Court. (See Vol. 1, pg. 22)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### FIRST ISSUE (RESTATED)

#### **ISSUE ONE**

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT STATING THAT PLAINTIFF'S NOTICE OF CLAIM DOES NOT COMPLY WITH MISS. CODE ANN. SEC. 11-46-11(2)?

Summary Judgment, where appropriate is designed "to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." FED.R.CIV.P. 1, 56; *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 327, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2552, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986). A grant of summary judgment is appropriate only when, viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, " [t]he pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file together with any affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." FED. R. Civ.P. 56(c): *Anderson c. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986). Stated differently, summary judgment must be entered against a nonmoving party if that party fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of a genuine issue of fact essential to that party's case. *Catrett*, 477 U.S. at 322.

Plaintiff-Appellant asserts that he has presented evidence and facts sufficient to establish the existence of a genuine issue of fact. Defendants-Appellees *contend* that Plaintiff-Appellant admitted that he was afforded any and all due process rights that he may have in connection with the City's Resolution No. 965 and the City's demolition of the structure located on the subject premises. Defendants-Appellees *contend* that Plaintiff-Appellant admitted that the City did not violate any rule, law or regulation by enacting and complying with Resolution No. 965. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 197)

Plaintiff-Appellant *maintains* that he substantially complied with the terms of the City's Resolution No. 965 until the property was sold to Danny McDaniel and *maintains* that the Defendants-Appellees actions are violations of the Mississippi Torts Claim Act, a trespass, an unlawful exercise of police power, a violation of Plaintiff-Appellant's Constitutional Rights, amounted to an unlawful taking of his property without compensation and due process of law, in violation of the 4th, 5th, and 14th amendments of the United States Constitution and Article 2, Sections 14 and 17 of the Mississippi Constitution. (See Record Vol. 1, pgs. 16-19; See Record Vol. 2, pg. 176)

Defendants-Appellees *contend* that Plaintiff-Appellant's notice of claim is insufficient and does not meet the requirements of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MCTA"), Miss Code Ann Section 11-46-1 et seq. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 81)

Plaintiff-Appellant *maintains* his notice of claim is sufficient and meets the requirements of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA"). (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 171-172) On April 16, 2002, Plaintiff-Appellant's attorney sent a letter to D 'Iberville City Attorney which gave notice of Plaintiff-Appellant's intent to file suit under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act and other applicable statute. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 184-185) The letter contained the nature of the injury which is the demolition of buildings on Plaintiff-Appellant's property in violation of specifically

stated laws. The letter includes entity or "persons involved" as the City of D 'Iberville and D 'Iberville City Council. A copy of the letter was sent to Rusty Quave, Mayor of the City of D 'Iberville and Alan Santa Cruz, City Manager of D 'Iberville. The letter stated Defendant-Appellee was negligent and that Plaintiff-Appellant was damaged. On August 29, 2002, Plaintiff-Appellant filed a Complaint against Defendants-Appellees. (See Record Vol. 1, pg. 12)

The rule of law on compliance with the requirements is one of the Mississippi Tort

Claims Act and Miss Code Ann Section 11-46-1 et seq. is one of substantial compliance as cited in *Reaves v. Randall*, 29 So.2d 1237 (Miss. 1998); *Carr v. Town of Shabuta*, 733 So.2d 261 (Miss. 1999). In *Reaves*, the appellant counsel's letter of representation sufficed to meet the ninety (90) day notice of claim requirement. *Reaves*, 729 So.2d at 1238. In reversing the summary judgment, the Court carved out a substantial compliance exception to the Act, as follows: [W]e find that Reaves substantially complied with the notice provisions of the Act. Her notice letter sent to Superintendent Stevenson, lists the persons involved in the accident, when the accident occurred, where the accident occurred, and what vehicles were involved. Superintendent Stevenson is employed in an executive capacity by the school board and through this letter the board was put on notice of the claim. The board had a duty to inquire into the details of the claim. *Id.*, at 1240.

In *Carr* the Court stated as follows: "Even though this Court now finds substantial compliance to be sufficient, we stress that substantial compliance is not the same as, nor a substitute for, non-compliance. The determination of substantial compliance is a legal, though fact-sensitive, question and is, therefore, necessarily decided on an *ad hoc* basis." *Id.* 

In the case at bar, Defendants-Appellees quote "the failure to provide any one of the seven categories is failure to comply" citing South Central Regional Medical Center v. Guffy, 930 So.2d

The court found that Guffy failed to comply with the notice requirements of Miss. Code Arm. Section 11-46-11(2) due to lack of any written notice in the record as none of the seven required categories are provided. *Id* at 1240.

In the case at bar, Plaintiff-Appellant provided written notice as aforementioned which contained some of the required categories. (See Record Vol. 2, pg. 184-185) Therefore, based upon the foregoing, your Plaintiff-Appellant asserts that the Circuit Court erred in granting Defendants-Appellees Motion for Summary Judgment.

### CONCLUSION

Your Plaintiff-appellant respectfully requests that this Honorable Court will reverse the lower court's decision and render a decision based upon the facts of the case and the laws of the State of Mississippi. Your Plaintiff-appellant prays for general or specific relief not mentioned herein.

2008.