2008 - CA - 00203



#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DANIEL WEBSTER

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

**VERSUS** 

CA NO. 2008-CA-00203

CITY OF D'IBERVILLE, CITY OF D'IBERVILLE CITY COUNCIL, MAYOR OF D'IBERVILLE AND CITY COUNCIL PRESIDENT RUSTY QUAVE, D'IBERVILLE PLANNING COMMISSION, AND CITY MANAGER OF D'IBERVILLE, ALAN SANTA CRUZ

**DEFENDANT-APPELLEES** 

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the trial court properly granted summary judgment to the City based on Webster's failure to comply with the Notice of Claim requirements specified in Section 11-46-11(2) the Mississippi Tort Claims Act?

DANIEL WEBSTER

APPELLANT

V.

CA. NO. 2008-CA-00203

CITY OF D'IBERVILLE, CITY OF
D'IBERVILLE CITY COUNCIL, MAYOR
OF D'IBERVILLE AND CITY COUNCIL
PRESIDENT RUSTY QUAVE, D'IBERVILLE
PLANNING COMMISSION, AND CITY MANAGER
OF D'IBERVILLE, ALAN SANTA CRUZ

APPELLEES

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of the demolition of a dilapidated and hazardous structure located at 10162 Seymour Avenue in D'Iberville, Mississippi, and owned by Appellant Daniel Webster. Webster filed suit against the City of D'Iberville, the City Council of D'Iberville, the Mayor of D'Iberville, City Council President Rusty Quave, the City of D'Iberville Planning Commission and City of D'Iberville Manager Alan Santa Cruz, (hereinafter collectively referred to as "the City") alleging that they violated various state and federal laws or duties in demolishing the structure located on Seymour Avenue.

The City answered Webster's Complaint and, after engaging in discovery, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asserting, among other things, that Webster's claims were barred due to his failure to meet the notice of claim requirements specified in Section 11-46-11(2) of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("MTCA").

# **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW**

On January 31, 2007, the City filed its Motion for Summary Judgment in this matter and submitted a Memorandum of Authorities in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. [R. 78-162]. On March 22, 2007, Webster responded to the Motion for

Summary Judgment. [R. 165-195]. Finally, on May 7, 2007, the City filed a Reply to Plaintiff's Response to its Motion for Summary Judgment. [R. 196-204].

On November 30, 2007, a hearing was held on the City's Motion for Summary Judgment and, after considering the briefs and oral argument, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the City. [R. 205-208]; see also, Transcript. A Final Judgment memorializing the Court's opinion was entered on December 20, 2007. [R. 205-208].

On January 14, 2008, Webster filed this appeal. [R. 209-210].

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2000, Webster owned real property at 10162 Seymour Avenue in D'Iberville, Mississippi (hereinafter "Property"). [R. 12, 31-34]. The Property contained a dilapidated and hazardous structure. [R. 12, 117].

On September 19, 2000, the City set a public hearing regarding the cleanliness of the Property and gave Webster notice of the same. [R. 126-128]. The City also published notice of the hearing. [R. 126]. At the hearing, the City determined that the Property was "in such a state of uncleanliness that its condition is a menace to the public health and safety of the community" and, as a result, the City issued Resolution 947 stating that the City would commence clean-up of the property. [R. 122-125].

On December 8, 2000, Webster was provided a copy of the Resolution via certified mail and, in response to Resolution 947, Webster began initial clean-up of the Property. [R. 122-125].

On January 11, 2001, the City forwarded correspondence to Webster via certified mail giving him notice of a public hearing to take place on February 6, 2001, the purpose of which was to discuss taking a terminal step to rehabilitate the Property. [R. 129-132].

On February 6, 2001, the City held a public hearing regarding the Property. [R. 133, 149-150]. The Plaintiff and his attorney, David Daniels, both attended the hearing and both gave testimony at the hearing. [R. 133-136].

Following the hearing, the City issued Resolution No. 965 which required Webster to perform certain tasks indicating an active plan and/or effort to repair or remove the structure on the Property including submitting architectural and engineering plans. [R. 133-136].

According to Webster, on March 21, 2001, he conveyed the Property to Danny McDaniel. [R. 100-102, 141-147].

On April 30, 2001, the City forwarded a certified letter to, among others, McDaniel and Daniels (Webster's attorney.) [R. 107-108]. The letter stated that because architectural and engineering plans were not submitted to the City by February 27, 2001, as required by Resolution 965, the City intended to demolish the structure on the Property. [R. 35-36, 107-108].

On May 9, 2001, in response to the City's April 30, 2002, letter Webster filed a "Cross-Complaint for Emergency Injunctive Relief" in the Chancery Court of the Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi seeking to enjoin the City from demolishing the structure. [R. 137-139].

The City responded to the Complaint and, on May 11, 2001, a hearing was held before the Honorable Wes Teel. [R. 153-158, 159-160]. Judge Teel ruled that a temporary restraining order prohibiting demolition of the structure would issue if Webster, his lawyer or McDaniels posted a \$5,000.00 bond by 5:00 p.m. on May 18, 2001. [R. 159-160].

The bond set by Judge Teel was never posted and, on May 23, 2001, counsel for the City advised Judge Teel of the same. [R. 159-160].

On May 31, 2001, the City demolished the structure located on Webster's Property. [R.161-162].

Aggrieved by the City's demolition of the structure, on April 16, 2002, Webster forwarded to the Mayor, the City Manager and the City Attorney what he contends amounts to a notice of claim under Section 11-46-11(2) of the MTCA. [R. 161-162, 184-185; R.E. 184-185, Tab K].

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court properly granted the City's Motion for Summary Judgment based on Webster's failure to comply with the notice of claim provisions specified in Section 11-46-11(2) of the MTCA. More specifically, the trial court was correct in determining that Webster provided information for only two of the seven categories of information designated by Section 11-46-11(2). Furthermore, the trial court was correct in ruling that, pursuant to Section 11-46-11(2) and this court's decision in *South Central Regional Medical Center v. Guffy*, 93X So.2d 1252 (Miss. 2006), Webster failed to comply with the notice of claim provisions of the MTCA and, as such, his Complaint had to be dismissed.

In *Guffy*, this court clearly held that a notice of claim must disclose some information for each and every one of the seven categories of information specified in Section 11-46-11(2) and that failing to provide some information for even one of these categories is fatal. In his notice of claim, Webster provided information regarding: (1) the circumstances which brought about his alleged injury; and (2) the time and place of his alleged injury. However, Webster failed to provide "some information" for each of the remaining five categories specified in the statute. As such, the trial court properly granted the City's Summary Judgment and this Court should affirm the same.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The MTCA is the exclusive state law remedy for a party allegedly injured by the acts or omissions of a Mississippi governmental entity or its employees and, as such, governs Webster's claims against the City in this case. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-7(1); *L.W. v. McComb Separate Municipal Sch. Dist.*, 754 So. 2d 1136, 1138 (Miss. 1999). Under the MTCA, the State of Mississippi and its political subdivisions waive sovereign immunity for torts; however, this wavier is subject to numerous conditions, limitations and exceptions. See, e.g., Miss. Code Ann. §§ 11-46-5; 11-46-7; 11-46-9; 11-46-11. Perhaps the most significant procedural condition is the notice of claim requirement delineated in Section 11-46-11.

Section 11-46-11 requires a claimant who wishes to bring suit against a political subdivision submit a "notice of claim" to that political subdivision ninety (90) days before bringing any such suit. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1). This section "imposes a condition precedent to the right to maintain an action." *Gale v. Thomas*, 759 So.2d 1150, 1159 (Miss.

1999). Properly filing a notice of claim is considered jurisdictional. *McCrary v. City of Biloxi*, 757 So.2d 978, 980 (Miss. 2000).

Section 11-46-11(2) of the MTCA governs the substance of the required notice of claim and provides as follows:

Every notice of claim shall contain a short and plain statement of the facts upon which the claim is based, including the circumstances which brought about the injury, the time and place the injury occurred, the names of all persons known to be involved, the amount of money damages sought and the residence of the person making the claim at the time of injury and at the time of filing the notice.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(2). In South Central Regional Medical Center v. Guffy, 930 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 2006), this Court gave a detailed explanation of what does and does not satisfy the substantive requirements of Section 11-46-11(2). More specifically, in Guffy, the Court explained that there are seven "required categories of information that must be included" in any notice of claim:

(1) the circumstances which brought about the injury; (2) the extent of the injury; (3) the time and place the injury occurred; (4) the names of all persons known to be involved; (5) the amount of money damages sought; (6) the residence of the person seeking the claim at the time of the injury; and (7) the claimants residence at the time of filing the notice.

Id. at 1257. The Court then ruled that the seven categories of information delineated in Section 11-46-11(2) are "mandatory" and the "failure to provide any one of the seven categories is failure to comply" with the notice provisions. Id at 1257-58 (emphasis added). Where "some information in each of the seven required categories is provided," courts must determine whether the information is 'substantial' enough to be in compliance with the statute." Id. at 1258. However, where a claimant fails to provide

information as to any one of the seven categories specified in Section 11-46-11(2), the term "substantial compliance…is rendered meaningless." *Id.* at 1258. Either the "written notice complied with Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(2) by disclosing all seven required categories of information or it did not comply with the statute by failing to disclose all seven required categories of information." *Id.* (emphasis added).

In essence, *Guffy* held that a trial court is to engage in a two prong analysis when examining the sufficiency of a notice of claim: First, does the notice of claim contain some information for each of the seven categories of information delineated in Section 11-46-11; second, if the first requirement has been met, is the information provided for each one of the seven categories "substantial enough" to amount to compliance. *Id.* at 1258.

In the case at bar, Webster's April 16, 2002, notice of claim provided, at best, information for two of the seven required categories of information: (1) the circumstances which brought about the injury; and (2) the time and place of the injury. [R. 184-185; R.E. 184-185, Tab K]. The notice of claim does not provide the extent of the injury suffered, the names of all persons known to be involved, the money damages sought, Webster's residency at the time of the injury or Webster's residency at the time of filing the notice. [R. 184-185; R.E. 184-185, Tab K].

Significantly, Webster readily admits that his Notice of Claim contains information only as to "some of the required categories." [R. 174]; Webster's Brief, p. 10. Nonetheless, Webster contends that April 16, 2002, notice of claim was statutorily sufficient under the Court's "substantial compliance" standard and Guffy. Webster Brief, p. 8-10. Webster reads Guffy as limited to those cases where no written information is provided for any of the

seven categories and, in light of the fact that he provided written information as to "some" categories, he contends that he has met the substantial compliance standard. Webster's Brief, p. 10. Simply put, Webster asserts that a notice of claim need not contain information for each of the seven required categories specified in Section 11-46-11(2). This position, however, is clearly contrary to the statute itself and this Court's ruling in *Guffy*.

Again, in *Guffy*, this Court clearly ruled that some information must be provided for each one of the seven categories noted in Section 11-46-11(2) and only when "some information in each of the seven required categories is provided," should a court even analyze whether the information provided is "substantial" enough to comply with the statute. *Guffy*, 930 So.2d at 1258.

This Court's recent decision in *Parker v. Harrison Co. Bd. of Superv.*, No. 2007-CA-00532-SCT (Miss. 2008) reinforces *Guffy* and further illustrates the error in Webster's position. In *Parker*, the claimant alleged that she complied with the notice of claim requirements of the MTCA on at least three occasions, two of which, involved written letters from attorneys. *Parker*, ¶ 16. The County moved for summary judgment based on, among other things, claimant's failure to provide a proper notice of claim. *Id.* at ¶ 4-7. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the County. *Id.* at ¶ 8.

On appeal, this Court affirmed the trial court's decision and noted that it need "not even reach the issue of whether a plaintiff substantially complied with the statute if all seven categories of information are not contained in the notice letter." *Id.* at ¶ 19 (emphasis added). The Court then went on to explain that the claimant's attempt at meeting the notice of claim requirements failed because the letters submitted by the

claimant contained information only as to two of the seven required categories. *Id.* at ¶ 20-22. See also, *Suddith v. Univ. of Southern Miss.*, 977 So.2d 1158 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(holding that the "failure to provide any information regarding even one of the categories described in Section 11-46-11(2) prevents a finding of 'substantial compliance.'"); *Harden v. Field Memorial Comm. Hosp.*, 265 Fed. Appx. 405 (5th Cir. 2008)(holding claimant's notice of claim failed where claimant provided information as to two of seven categories of information).

This Court's decision in *Guffy* either requires a claimant provide "some" information for each and every one of the seven categories specified in Section 11-46-11(2) or it does not. The trial court's ruling that a notice of claim must include some information for each and every one of the seven specified categories of information was correct and the trial court's grant of summary judgment based on Webster's failure to provide information for each and every one of the seven categories was similarly correct. This Court should affirm the trial court's decision.

#### CONCLUSION

As demonstrated above, the trial court's granting summary judgment in favor of the City was proper. Webster failed to comply with the notice of claim provision specified in Section 11-46-11(2) of the MTCA.

Because the trial court's decision is supported by the record evidence in this matter, the same should be upheld in favor of the City and affirmed by this Court.